
 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

AGENDA
 

MEDICAL MARIJUANA  ADVISORY BOARD (MMAB) MEETING
 

WEDNESDAY APRIL 25TH , 2018 1:30PM
 

BROWARD COUNTY GOVERNMENTAL CENTER
 
115 South Andrews Avenue, Room 430
 

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. ROLL CALL 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – None 

4.	 CHAIR REPORT/COMMENTS 

5. NEW BUSINESS 

a.	 PRESENTATION – Advisory Board Procedures and Policies, presented  
by Orlando A. Garcia, Boards Administrator, Intergovernmental
Affairs/Boards Section;  

b.	 MOTION  – Selection of MMAB Vice Chair; 
c. 	 MOTION  – Setting MMAB meeting dates, times, and locations; 

6. OLD BUSINESS – None 

7. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

8. MMAB MEMBER REPORTS/COMMENTS 

9.	 STAFF COORDINATOR REPORT/COMMENTS   

10.   ADJOURN 

 

Medical Marijuana Advisory  Board (MMAB): 

x Advise and  make recommendations  to the Board of County Commissioners for improving operations and services  for 
growing, processing, and selling  medical marijuana for qualified patients and users;  

� Obtain information concerning medical  marijuana and related matters within  Broward County; 
� Provide recommendations to the Board of County Commissioners regarding regulations and fees related to  medical  

marijuana treatment centers; 
� Develop programs to educate the  citizens of  Broward County as to  the benefits and disadvantages of the use of  medical  

marijuana; 

MMAB APRIL 25, 2018 



 

 

Broward County Advisory BoardMember Handbook 

Presented by the Intergovernmental Affairs/Boards Section Staff: 

C. Marty Cassini, Manager 
Edward G. Labrador, Legislative Counsel 

Daphnee A. Sainvil, Legislative Coordinator 
Devon West, Legislative Coordinator 

Orlando Garcia, Boards Administrator 



 

 
 

  
   

   
 

 

  

Purpose 

This handbook is designed to inform and educate County advisory board members about their roles and 
responsibilities, the Florida Sunshine Law, and how to properly conduct meetings. 

The following the procedures and requirements are guided for advisory boards and committees to 
conduct themselves in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida and the Broward County Code 
and Rules. 

This handbook includes summaries and refers to statutes, ordinances and policies in order to give 
general direction with regard to board and committee membership. The purpose of including the 
aforementioned is to provide you with sufficient information to alert board and committee members of 
issues that may arise.  If an issue or question arises, please inform the County Boards Administrator 
(“Boards Administrator").  The Boards Administrator will contact the County Attorney’s office for specific 
advice and guidance as needed. 

If you have any questions about this handbook, please contact the Intergovernmental Affairs/Boards 
Section at boards@broward.org or (954) 357-7575. 

Revised March 19, 2018 

mailto:boards@broward.org


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS
 

Advisory Boards: A General Overview ......................................................................... Intro
 

Serving on Boards and Committees ................................................................................. 1
 

Staff Liaison (Board Coordinator/Board Assistant) Functions ........................................... 2
 

Meetings ...................................................................................................................... .... 4
 

Public Notice .......................................................................................................... 4
 

Public Records ....................................................................................................... 6
 

Quorum ................................................................................................................. 6
 

Minutes ................................................................................................................. 8
 

Rules for Conducting a Meeting ............................................................................. 9
 

Conducting Advisory Board Business ................................................................... 10
 

Decorum and Debate ........................................................................................... 12
 

Motions ............................................................................................................... 14
 

Voting .................................................................................................................. 17
 

Appointments, Terms, and Attendance ......................................................................... 18
 

Public Participation in a Meeting ................................................................................... 20
 

Ethics ........................................................................................................................ ..... 21
 

Additional FAQ............................................................................................................... 23
 

Revised March 19, 2018 



 

 

 
 

 
   

     
    

  
 

  
  

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
    

   

 
 
  

 

 

 
 

 

  
 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 

  

Advisory Boards: A General Overview 

Purpose and Role of an advisory board and committee 

An advisory board is a group of individuals established by the County Commission through ordinance or 
resolution with the collective responsibility to provide advice and recommendations to the County 
Commission on a particular subject matter or issue. The specific duties of the advisory board are defined 
in the establishing ordinance.  Members of the advisory board are appointed by the County Commission. 

A committee is established by the County Commission to meet and perform a specific service or function 
for a limited duration of time.  The ordinance or resolution creating such board or committee shall 
specify its powers and duties. 

All boards and committees shall be part of the County government and shall use County employees for 
official administrative functions and the Office of the County Attorney for legal functions unless 
otherwise stated in the Charter, Ordinance, or Resolution. 

Types of Boards 

Quasi-judicial boards 

Quasi-judicial means a board is required to hold hearings, receive evidence, and make decisions in a 
manner similar to that of the courts. Quasi-judicial boards: (1) consider items that may affect an 
applicant’s personal or property rights and (2) follow a procedure that allows evidence to be presented 
and a decision to be reached based on the evidence provided.  The following advisory boards are quasi-
judicial: 

x 
x 
x 

Board of Rules and Appeals 
Central Examining Board of Electricians 
Central Examining Board of Engineered 
Construction Trades 

x 

x 
x 

Central Examining Board of Mechanical 
Contractors 
Central Examining Board of Plumbers 
Consumer Protection Board 

x 

x 

Central Examining Board of General 
Construction Trades 
Central Examining Board of Liquefied 
Petroleum Gas Contractors 

x 
x 
x 
x 

Historic Preservation Board 
Human Rights Board 
Unsafe Structure Board 
Value Adjustment Board 

Boards subject to the Dual Office Holding prohibition: 

x 
x 

x 

Central Examining Board of Electricians 
Central Examining Board of Engineered 
Construction Trades 
Central Examining Board of General 
Construction Trades 

x 

x 

x 

Central Examining Board of Liquefied 
Petroleum Gas Contractors 
Central Examining Board of Mechanical 
Contractors 
Central Examining Board of Plumbers 

Revised March 19, 2018 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  
  

 
   

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

  
  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

x Consumer Protection Board x Human Rights Board 
x Health and Sanitary Control Board x Unsafe Structures Board 
x Housing Finance Authority 

Boards requiring members to file a financial disclosure: 

x Board of Rules and Appeals x Hillsboro Inlet District 
x Broward County Housing Authority x Historic Preservation Board 
x Broward County Planning Council x Housing Finance Authority 
x Children’s Services Council of Broward x Human Rights Board 

County x Performing Arts Center Authority 
x Consumer Protection Board x South Florida Regional Planning Council 
x Fire Rescue Council x South Florida Regional Transportation 
x Florida Atlantic Research and Authority 

Development Agency 

All other boards that are considered “Active” 
Active boards are comprised of board members who discuss matters and create recommendations for 
the County Commission to consider.  For these boards, minutes should be prepared and submitted at 
the next meeting for approval. In the case of an emergency, if an important opportunity would be lost, 
or if there is business that cannot be delayed, those present can, at their own risk, act with the hope that 
their action will be ratified at a later meeting when a quorum is present. 

x Advisory Board for 
Individuals with 
Disabilities 

x Broward Regional 
Health Planning 
Council 

x Courthouse Task 
Force Advisory 
Committee 

x Affordable Housing 
Advisory Committee 

x CareerSource 
Broward 

x Diversity Advisory 
Council 

x Animal Care Advisory 
Committee 

x Children’s Services 
Board 

x Early Learning 
Coalition 

x Bicycling and 
Pedestrian Advisory 
Committee 

x 

x 

Climate Change Task 
Force 
Cocomar Water 

x 

x 

Educational Facilities 
Authority 
Florida Association of 

x Broward County 
Cultural Council x 

District 
Commission on the 

Counties (Board of 
Directors) 

x 

x 

Broward League of 
Cities (Board of 
Directors) 
Broward Regional 
Emergency Medical 
Services Council 

x 

x 

Status of Women 
Community Action 
Agency Advisory 
Board 
Community 
Redevelopment 
Agency  

x 

x 

x 

Florida Atlantic 
Research and 
Development 
Authority 
Greater Ft. 
Lauderdale Alliance 
Health Facilities 
Authority 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
     

    
  

 
     

 
 

 
   
    

  
  

 
 

 
  

  
 

   
 

 
 

  

x HIV Health Services x Metropolitan	 x Transportation 
Planning Council	 Planning Organization Management 

x	 Homeless Continuum x Parks and Recreation Association 
of Care Board 	 Advisory Board x Urban Wilderness 

x	 Housing Council x Public Safety Advisory Board 
x	 Juvenile Justice Board Coordinating Council x Value Adjustment 
x	 Legal Aid Service and Advisory Board Board 

Coast to Coast Legal x School Oversight 	 x Water Advisory Board 
Aid	 Committee x Water Control District 

x	 Library Advisory x Small Business #2 
Board 	 Development x Water Control District 

x	 Living Wage Advisory Advisory Board #3 
Board 	 x Substance Abuse x Water Control District 

x	 Marine Advisory Advisory Board #4 
Committee 	 x Tourist Development 

Council 

Sunset Review 

Pursuant to Section 2.09(F), Charter, the County Commission shall adopt procedures to provide for the 
review of the performance of all boards, committees, authorities, and agencies at least once every four 
(4) years.  As part of its review, the County Commission shall determine by resolution or ordinance that 
the applicable board, committee, authority, or agency (excluding those created by Charter) is needed to 
serve the public interest and the cost of its existence to the taxpayers is justified. 

The following process is used during the sunset review period: 
1.	 The Intergovernmental Affairs/Boards Section (IABS) contacts the County Attorney Office to 

generate a list of boards that are subject to sunset review. 
2.	 IABS schedules meetings to review the status of the advisory board and recommend changes if 

necessary with the staff liaison, agency director or designee, assigned assistant county attorney, 
IABS staff, and Chair of the advisory board. 

3.	 The recommendations are brought before the advisory board at their soonest scheduled meeting 
through the staff liaison.  Input from the members is requested and documented. 

4.	 After all the advisory boards have met and given their input, the draft recommendations are 
brought before County Administration for relevant changes and input. 

5.	 The recommendations with the suggested changes from County Administration are then brought 
back to the advisory boards for their final review. 

6.	 The draft recommendations are then brought before the Board of County Commissioners (BoCC) 
through an agenda item generated by IABS. 

7.	 BoCC either approves the recommendations as is or sends specific directive(s) to the advisory 
boards with their recommended changes. 

8.	 After final changes are made, the recommendations are set to be heard at the public hearing. 



 

  
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

    
   

 
  

 
  

 

   
    

 
 

 
      

  
  

 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Serving on Boards and Committees 

Eligibility 

Section 1-233(b)(1), Broward County Code, requires that each member of an advisory board or 
committee be a resident of Broward County and maintain residency in Broward County during the term 
of appointment.  Any appointee who fails to meet the requirements of his or her appointment, including 
residency if required to live in the district, is automatically disqualified and his or her appointment shall 
immediately cease and be deemed vacant. 

A county employee may serve as a voting member on an advisory or other board, as long as he or she is 
appointed by a body other than the County Commission. No county employee shall be appointed by a 
County Commissioner to an advisory board or committee unless an exemption is found. 

There are several boards which require members to meet specific categories - by profession, occupation, 
demonstrated interest or other specification such as registered voter - to serve on the advisory board. 
Any board appointee who fails to meet the categorical requirements of his or her appointment is 
automatically disqualified, and his or her appointment shall immediately cease and be deemed vacant. 

A person may only serve on one advisory board at a time.  However, an elected county or municipal 
officer appointed in an official capacity may serve on more than one advisory board or committee to 
which at least one such elected official is required to be appointed. In addition to serving in an official 
capacity, an elected county or municipal officer may serve on one advisory board in an individual capacity 
so long as such appointment does not otherwise violate the dual-office holding provision of the Florida 
Constitution.  

For specific eligibility requirements, refer to the enacting ordinance or resolution for the particular board 
or committee or contact the Boards Administrator. 

1 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

Staff Liaison (Board Coordinator/Board Assistant) Functions 
 
The staff liaison (board coordinator/board assistant) is the county staff member assigned by the 
overseeing  department, division, or office in  which the advisory board or committee is housed. The  
liaison  acts as a link and communicator  between the advisory board, County Administration, and the  
Board of  County Commissioners.  The staff liaison works with the Boards Administrator.   
 
Duties  
 

1.	 Publicly notice  the  advisory board meeting and reserve  the meeting room.  Reasonably  
accommodate meeting room for teleconference ability.  

 
2.	 Set up the meeting room and ensure that the digital audio recording system is operable (if  

necessary) and coordinate the audio recording with  the  minute’s secretary or  minute’s  
contractor (if applicable).  

 
3.	 Prepare the agenda and  agenda backup materials and transmit copies to all members.  

 
4.	 Announce the number of members as of  the date of  the meeting and the number  that would  

constitute a physical quorum which will be included in the minutes of each meeting. 
 

5.	 Ensure a guest speaker sign-in sheet is available and all guest speakers sign-in.   The staff liaison  
maintains sign-in sheets in the file for each meeting.  Guest speakers appear only in  the minutes  
when  they speak and are not reflected under the board's attendance at the beginning of  the 
minutes (guest speaker sign-in sheet is for guests not members). 

 
6.	 Contact new members immediately,  notify the incoming members  of the next meeting  date,  and  

acquaint them with the board or committee process and rules.  Contact member immediately  
upon receiving a removal letter in order to notify them of their changed status on the advisory 
board.  

 
7.	 Keep contact information up-to-date and notify Boards Administrator of any relevant changes in  

a member’s residency status.  
 

8.	 Maintain accurate  information pertaining to changes in the board or  committee’s enacting  
ordinance or resolution.  Ensure the Board Overview Document is updated on  the Boards and  
Committees website.  

 
9.	 Submit attendance sheet to  the Boards Administrator within 2 weeks after the meeting is held. 

 
10. Ensure that a complete and cumulative attendance record appears on the front of each set of  

minutes.  If a regular scheduled meeting was held the attendance record will reflect members  
who attended and those who did  not  attend.  Those who did not attend will count as missing a  

2 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

meeting.  If  there was no quorum the meeting will be cancelled and those who intended to  
participate via telephone will be marked  absent.  

 
11. Ensure  that a complete file for each meeting is maintained.  	 This includes  video and/or audio of  

the meeting; member and guest sign-in sheet; copies of all material  handed out or  displayed  
during meeting presentations; and all agenda materials provided to  the board or committee.  

 
12. Distribute information to advisory board members (i.e. board member sends you information to  

distribute to other  members). 
 

13. Upload minutes to the assigned advisory board website found within the overseeing agency  
page. The upload should include: agenda/minutes (together), handouts, and presentations.   
Contact your public information officer if you have  questions  on how  to upload  the documents.  

 
Notification Requirement  
 
An appointee shall notify the board coordinator  at least two (2) business days  prior  to the scheduled  
meeting date as to whether they will or will not attend the meeting, unless the occurrence of an excused 
absence as specified on  page 18 makes notice impracticable.  Failure to notify the board coordinator  
within that  time period shall  be considered an absence.  This notification requirement will allow time  for  
cancellation if it is determined the meeting will not have a  quorum  present.   
 
What if a board or committee request requires staff  time that goes beyond what is anticipated for that  
board or committee (e.g., developing a parking study or a neighborhood survey)?  
 
A board or committee request that will require staff time beyond what is  anticipated for the board or 
committee should  be included in the minutes under “Communications to  Department.”  These types of 
policy decisions, which have a budgetary impact  and require additional staff time, will be made by the 
Agency Director.    

 

3 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 
 

   
   

  
  

 
    

  

 
   

 
 

  
   

 
 

   
  

 
 

 
 

  
   

  
    

   
 

 

 
 

  
  

 

 
 

 

Meetings 

A meeting is when all of the appointed members meet to conduct the business of the board or 
committee. The enacting ordinance or resolution may provide the location and the frequency meetings 
will occur. It will also specify if and how special meetings may be called. A meeting is conducted based 
on an agenda prepared by the staff liaison prior to a meeting.  

Under the Sunshine Law, any time two or more persons on the same board or committee communicate 
about any foreseeable matter that may come before the board or committee is considered a meeting 
(this includes subcommittees).  In addition, meetings of two or more members of a board or committee 
to discuss board matters must be: (1) open to the public; (2) noticed to the public; and (3) minutes 
(written) taken and recorded. 

Off-site meetings 

The location of board or committee meetings is not changed unless circumstances beyond the control 
of the board or committee require it to be changed. However, if the board or committee needs to visit 
a particular site or location, a tour may be scheduled. Board or committee members shall refrain from 
discussion until the tour is concluded and the board or committee convenes in their customary meeting 
place with active recording equipment.  It is encouraged that changes be kept to a minimum. The staff 
liaison notifies and makes arrangements with the minutes secretary or minutes contractor (if applicable) 
in advance for any schedule changes. 

Can an advisory board take an inspection tour? 

If an advisory board or committee requests a tour, the mode of transportation must be big enough to 
accommodate a reasonable number of members of the public (to be determined on a case -by-case 
basis). Board or committee members shall not have discussions on matters which may come before the 
board for official action until the members get off the bus and convene in a meeting that has been 
noticed, is open to the public and will have minutes taken. Inspection tours are not available to a board 
with an ultimate decision making authority. 

Public Notice 

All meetings must be properly noticed at least 10 days prior to the meeting date.  The sunshine 
advertisement form is found at: http://www.broward.org/Commission/Pages/SunshineMeetings.aspx. 

What types of communications qualify as a “Sunshine meeting”? 

Communication may include the following: 
1. Face-to-face 
2. Written correspondence 

4 | P a  g  e  

http://www.broward.org/Commission/Pages/SunshineMeetings.aspx


 

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

     
    

   
  

 
  

 
  

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
  

  

3.	 Telephone 
4.	 Email 
5.	 Indirect communication (hand signals) 
6.	 Through an intermediary, a person who separately speaks to both board and committee 

members and tells one what the other says regarding a matter that may come up before the 
board or committee. 

If a board or committee asks one of its members to communicate a board or committee concern to 
another person or bring back information to that board or committee, the action qualifies as a meeting 
under the Sunshine Law. Even though it is a single board or committee member going to another person, 
the single board or committee member is acting as a "delegate" for the board or committee as if two or 
more members are in attendance. Under the Sunshine Law, this action would qualify as a "Sunshine 
meeting." 

Email: A board or committee member may send an email to their fellow members and staff liaison 
with their thoughts about a matter of business that has or will come before their board or committee. 
However, no reply emails are permissible. The subject of the email could only be discussed at a future 
board or committee meeting.  Any reply email would be dialogue outside of the "sunshine." In these 
situations, it is recommended that the following footnote be added to the email: 

"PLEASE NOTE THAT AS MEMBERS OF THE _________ BOARD OR COMMITTEE, TWO WAY
 
COMMUNICATION BETWEEN MEMBERS IS PROHIBITED BY SUNSHINE LAW. DO
 

NOT REPLY TO ANY BOARD OR COMMITTEE MEMBER.  DISCUSSION SHOULD TAKE
 
PLACE AT A SCHEDULED BOARD OR COMMITTEE MEETING."
 

Florida’s Government-in-the-Sunshine Law 

The Florida Sunshine Law is a set of laws and rules which provide the public with a right of access to 
government proceedings. The Sunshine Law was designed to afford the public entrance into the process 
of governmental decision making.  Section 286.011, Florida Statutes, provides the framework which 
governments must follow when conducting a meeting and what happens to the documents and files 
used in conducting a meeting. 

Consequences of unintentional or intentional violations of the Sunshine Law 

If a government official is found guilty of an unintentional violation of the Sunshine Law, it is a non-
criminal infraction punishable by a fine of up to $500. 

A knowing or intentional violation is a second-degree misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more 
than $500 and/or a jail term of not more than sixty days and the official may be subject to suspension or 
removal from office. Attorney fees and court costs may be awarded in a civil suit. 

5 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 
 

 
 

     
 

 
   

    

 
     
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

 
    

    
    

   
 

    
 

  

    

Public Records 

Public records include all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, videos, photographs, films, sound 
recordings, data processing software or other material, regardless of the physical form, characteristics 
or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the 
transaction of official business of the county. 

An agenda does not have to be retained; however, minutes and notes kept by members and staff liaisons 
that may be used for future meetings are considered public records. Such records must be kept for two 
years after the minutes have been adopted.  After two years, the minutes must be archived.  Additionally, 
all advisory board or committee member notes are subject to the public records rules and are to be 
maintained for two years.  If a member’s term expires prior to the two year period, they should submit 
their notes to the board coordinator or assistant. 

Quorum 

How do you determine if you have a quorum? 

The enabling ordinance or resolution for the specific board or committee may specify the number of 
voting members needed for a quorum.  Generally, county boards and committees refer to Section 1-233 
(g) which states: 

“The number of members needed to constitute a quorum any advisory or other board 
shall be a majority of the total appointed board members.  Once a quorum has been 
established by members who are physically present at a meeting, members who are not 
physically present may attend and participate in such meeting by telephone.” 

If there is no quorum, the board or committee cannot meet. 

Basic Quorum Rules 

Appointees who have notified the board coordinator that they cannot attend the meeting will be 
considered absent even if the meeting is cancelled due to lack of a quorum.  The Chair of the board shall, 
in his or her discretion, determine whether the appointee's absence meets any of the criteria outlined 
in 1-233, Broward Code for an excused absence. 

If a meeting is scheduled and a sufficient number of members to constitute a quorum CONFIRMED that 
they will be physically present at the meeting: 
x Members present will be marked as attending. 
x Members who telephone in will be marked as attending.  
x Members not present will be marked absent. 
x Members who did not confirm they were attending but were physically present at the meeting 

will be marked as attending. 

6 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

   
   

   
 

   
 

 
  

   

   
 

 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

   
 

 
    

  
  

  
 

  
    

    
  

If a meeting is scheduled and a sufficient number of members to have quorum DID NOT CONFIRM that 
they will be physically present at the meeting, THE MEETING WILL BE CANCELLED PRIOR TO THE 
MEETING DATE: 
x Members, who intended to telephone in, will be marked absent. 
x Members who did not confirm that they were attending will be marked absent. 
x Members who confirmed they would be attending will be marked present and it will be noted on 

the attendance sheet that the meeting was cancelled. 

If a meeting is scheduled and sufficient number of members to constitute a quorum CONFIRMED that 
they will be physically present at the meeting, BUT QUORUM WAS NOT PRESENT AT THE MEETING, THE 
MEETING WILL BE CANCELLED: 
x Members present will be marked as attending but it will be noted that the meeting was cancelled.
 
x Members not present will be marked absent. 

x Members who telephone in will be marked absent. 

x Members who did not confirm that they were attending but were physically present at the
 

meeting will be marked as attending. 

If a board or committee member excuses themselves because of a conflict of interest, leaving less than 
a quorum to vote on a matter, can the remaining members vote on the matter? 

No. A quorum must be maintained for business to be conducted. 

If a board or committee member momentarily leaves the room (e.g., for a drink of water) and less than 
a quorum remains, may business still be conducted? 

No. The meeting must be stopped until the board or committee member returns. 

How often do meetings take place? What happens if there is a need to continue a meeting? 

The enabling ordinance or resolution will indicate how often a board or committee meets. Advisory and 
other boards shall meet quarterly unless any such board determines that meetings are required more or 
less frequently. 

Special meetings may be called.  The manner in which special meetings are called is generally outlined 
in the ordinance or resolution or advisory board bylaws. If the enabling ordinance or resolution for a 
particular board or committee does not provide for the calling of special meetings, the board or 
committee may vote at their regular meeting to set a special meeting. 

If there is a need for a regularly scheduled meeting to be continued to another date, a majority consensus 
or vote by the board or committee expressed on the record and reflected in the minutes is required. 
There is an understanding that the staff liaison may or may not be able to confirm a meeting room with 
audio recording equipment availability and minutes contractor arrangements. 

7 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 
 

  
    

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  

 
 

   
  

 
 

 
 

   
   

 
 

 
  

     
   

 
  

 
 

 
  

Minutes 

Minutes are a written record of the activities that take place during a meeting. Florida law requires 
minutes of official meetings (Chapter 286, Florida Statutes) be maintained as a permanent record of the 
county. All board and committee meeting minutes are maintained by the staff liaison.  The staff liaison 
is responsible for posting their minutes on the designated agency website (see FAQ). 

What should minutes include? 

At a minimum, minutes should include: 

1.	 A written record of the location and state and end time; 
2.	 Names of board or committee members in attendance; 
3.	 Official actions taken by the board or committee; 
4.	 A brief summary of meeting activities, including an attachment of any presentation slides used; 

and 
5.	 Any announcement by staff liaison of the number of appointed members as of the date of the 

meeting and the number of members that would constitute a quorum. 

An electronic recording does not replace the requirement for minutes pursuant to state law.  Written 
minutes must be taken and should include an attachment of any presentation slides used in place of 
detailed narrative. 

Who can take minutes? 

Minutes are taken by the staff liaison designated by their department director.  Minutes can also be 
taken by the board member appointed to the Secretary role.  If necessary, minutes can be taken by a 
secretary or contractor. 

How are minutes corrected? 

The staff liaison coordinates corrections to minutes. Board or committee members may make 
corrections to the minutes when approval of the minutes is scheduled on a subsequent agenda. The 
corrections are approved by a majority vote of the board or committee at the next meeting. 

What if someone intended to say something or thought they said something and wants to change or add 
to the minutes? 

Making corrections that include what one thought or intended to say is not permitted. Clarifications of 
this nature are made at the following meeting when the minutes or the particular subject is 
considered. As such, the individual makes that clarification and it is then reflected in the following 
meeting minutes. 

8 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

Rules for Conducting a Meeting  
 
Meeting Agenda 
 
The physical structure of the meeting is determined by the agenda, a list of items to be  considered at  
the board or committee  meeting. After opening ceremonies, if any, the agenda includes approval of the  
minutes of  the prior meeting. 
 
The staff liaison with input from the advisory board Chairperson, prepares the agenda based on matters  
the  board or committee  is authorized to  consider. The enabling ordinance or resolution contains 
information related to matters that can be considered  by a board or committee. In addition, a board or  
committee may have requested at a prior meeting for an item to be placed on a future agenda.  The  
County commission may also propose matters for consideration  by a board or committee.  Items of 
business not completed or postponed from the prior meeting will also be included on  the agenda.  
 
May the board or committee bring up new topics or recommendations?  
 
Yes.  The proper place on the agenda to bri ng up new topics  or recommendations is under the heading  
of “New Business.”  For new topics other than those of  a purely general  nature, notice is required.  The 
new topic  should appear on the agenda for the next meeting.    
 
No.  New topics, other than something of a general nature, may not be discussed at the present meeting  
because they have not been properly noticed to the public.  The discussion is limited to the rationale for  
consideration and whether it is appropriate to consider the topic or recommendation.  If approved, such 
items will appear on  future agendas. 
 
A majority of board or committee members may vote to have an item within their authority placed on  
the agenda  for their own discussion. If staff time and  funds are  required  to do  research or report  on the  
topic and it goes beyond reasonable staff duties for that board, the  staff liaison shall inform the  
department director  and await direction.   
 
Communications to  the County  Commission 
 
In all cases, when  the advisory board has voted  affirmatively to recommend issues for action or  
consideration by the Board of  County Commissioners, the  following process should be followed:  
 
•	 A majority of the board’s members present at the meeting must vote affirmatively to send an  

issue to the County Commission  for consideration, information, or action.  
 
•	 The assigned board coordinator communicates the request of the advisory board, either through  

resolution from the advisory board or via a transmittal letter signed  by the Chair  of  the advisory 
board, to the Mayor and members of the Broward County Commission. 

 

9 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

   
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
   

  
   

 
  

 
    

      
  

 
 

  
   

  
 

 
 

     
 

  
 

 
   

  
 

 

•	 The Board of County Commissioners may choose to take action. If action is taken, the advisory 
board will be informed, usually through a letter from the Mayor or County Administrator to the 
Chair of the advisory board, indicating the action taken. 

This process applies to the majority of active advisory boards with the exception of those with quasi-
judicial powers.  Advisory board members shall not take it upon themselves to relay the advisory board’s 
position to entities outside county government, without the approval of the Board of County 
Commissioners.  In those instances when it is necessary to transmit information, only the approved 
Broward County letterhead stationery, provided by the board coordinator, shall be used. 

Conducting Advisory Board Business 

Board and committee business is generally conducted by motion. 

Are there rules for conducting a meeting? 

There are no official rules outlined within Broward County’s Administrative Code or Ordinances. 
However, it is recommended that parliamentary procedure or Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised be 
used to orderly conduct business at meetings. 

These “written” rules of order allow everyone to be heard and to make decisions without confusion. 
Examples of parliamentary rules are: 

1.	 A quorum must be present for business to be legally conducted. 
2.	 Every member has the right to make motions, speak in debate, and vote. 
3.	 A member must be recognized by the Chair before speaking or making a motion. 
4.	 Before a motion is brought before the board or committee, it must be seconded. 
5.	 Only one question or motion can be considered at a time. 
6.	 The basic principle of decision is that a proposition must be adopted by a majority vote. 
7.	 Once a motion is seconded and before the board or committee, it must be adopted or rejected 

by a vote or be disposed of in some other way before any other subject can be introduced. 

What if a board or committee does not follow the agenda?
 
Failure to follow the published agenda may raise legal issues about public notice (i.e., the public is not
 
made aware or not prepared to listen to the discussion and respond to a certain matter).
 

Duties of the Advisory Board Chair 

It is the duty and responsibility of the Chair to see the rules for conducting a meeting are followed.  The 
duties of the Chair are outlined either in the advisory board’s enacting legislation, bylaws, or both. 
Examples of the Chair’s responsibilities include: 

1.	 Enforce meeting rules. 

10 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

   
  

 
 

  
   

 
   

 
   

    
 

 
 

 

 
 

   
 

   
      

  
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

   

  
   

   
 

 
  

   
  

 

2.	 He or she opens the meeting at the appointed time by calling the meeting to order, having 
determined that a quorum is present. 

3.	 Announce that all speakers, including county staff, should sign-in. 
4.	 Ask minute’s secretary, or minute’s contractor (staff liaison) to call the roll. 
5.	 Announce the arrival of any and all members who arrive late. 
6.	 Announce in proper sequence the business that comes before the board or committee. 
7.	 Recognize members who are entitled to the floor. 
8.	 State and put to vote all questions that legitimately come before the board or committee. 
9.	 Restate all motions and amendments to motions. 
10. Announce the name of the member who made the motion and the seconder and announce the 

name of those members, if any, voting no. 
11. Ask the minute’s secretary or minute’s contractor (staff liaison) to call the roll to vote if a roll call 

vote is necessary. 
12. Protect the board or committee from obvious frivolous or dilatory motions by refusing to 

recognize them. 
13. Enforce the rules relating to debate and those relating to order and decorum within the board or 

committee and with the public in attendance. 
14. Open the floor to public comment. 
15. Expedite business in every way compatible with the rights of members. 
16. Decide all questions of order, subject to appeal, unless submitted to board or committee for a 

decision. 
17. Respond to inquiries of members relating to parliamentary procedure or factual information. 
18. Declare the meeting adjourned when the board or committee so votes or at the time prescribed 

on the agenda. 

Should the Chair fail to follow the agenda, both the staff liaison and board attorney must intervene to 
correct him or her.  Additionally, staff time and each individual member’s time will be wasted. 

Member’s Responsibilities 

Members must understand and follow all of the laws, rules, or policies that apply to their respective 
board or committee. Additionally, every member has the responsibility to: 

1.	 Know how to make motions and carry on the business of the board or committee; 
2.	 Amend motions if they do not express the need of the majority; 
3.	 Know and observe the rules of debate and decorum in debate; 
4.	 Immediately call a point of order when a rule has been broken ; 
5.	 Appeal from the decision of the Chair on a point of order if not in agreement with the decision of 

the Chair; 
6.	 Know the difference between the use of the motions; 
7.	 Understand when one should consider abstaining from voting, step out of the room when 

abstaining and file a memorandum of voting conflict; and 
8.	 Participate by contributing ideas, voicing meaningful concerns and opinions in debate, and voting 

for principle. 

11 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

  
 

 
 

     
 

  
 

 
 

  
   

 
 

   
 

 
  

 
  

  

 
 

 
 

  
  

   
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
   

     
   

  
 

Decorum and Debate 

Decorum 

Decorum directly relates to the Sunshine Law.  Sunshine Law provides the public with a right to attend 
and hear meetings and that a record of the meeting is documented and available for those who could 
not attend the meeting. 

Sunshine Law also states that all meetings shall be subject to order and decorum. 

“Order” is defined as customary or prescribed methods used in the conduct of deliberative, legislative 
or public meetings, (i.e., parliamentary rules of order). 

“Decorum” is defined as customs of formality that are followed by a presiding officer and members of a 
board or committee; propriety and good taste in conduct or appearance. 

Robert’s Rules of Order 

Robert’s Rules of Order is the standard for facilitating discussions and group decision- making. Although 
they may seem long and involved, having an agreed-upon set of rules makes meetings run easier. 
Robert’s Rules will help your group have better meetings, not make them more difficult. Your group is 
free to modify them or find another suitable process that encourages fairness and participation, unless 
your bylaws state otherwise.  

Here are the basic elements of Robert's Rules, used by most organizations: 

1. Motion: To introduce a new piece of business or propose a decision or action, a motion must be made 
by a group member ("I move that......") A second motion must then also be made (raise your hand and 
say, "I second it.") After limited discussion the group then votes on the motion. A majority vote is 
required for the motion to pass (or quorum as specified in your bylaws.) *This will be further discussed 
later in the “Motion” section. 

2. Postpone Indefinitely: This tactic is used to kill a motion. When passed, the motion cannot be 
reintroduced at that meeting. It may be brought up again at a later date. This is made as a motion ("I 
move to postpone indefinitely..."). A second is required. A majority vote is required to postpone the 
motion under consideration. 

3. Amend: This is the process used to change a motion under consideration. Perhaps you like the idea 
proposed but not exactly as offered. Raise your hand and make the following motion: "I move to amend 
the motion on the floor." This also requires a second. After the motion to amend is seconded, a majority 
vote is needed to decide whether the amendment is accepted. Then a vote is taken on the amended 
motion. In some organizations, a "friendly amendment" is made. If the person who made the original 
motion agrees with the suggested changes, the amended motion may be voted on without a separate 
vote to approve the amendment. 

12 | P a  g  e  



 

  13 | P a  g  e  
 

 
  

     
  

 
 

  
   

  
 

 
  

   
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

     
  

  
  

 
   

 
     

  
 

 
         

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

   
      

4. Commit: This is used to place a motion in committee. It requires a second. A majority vote must rule 
to carry it. At the next meeting the committee is required to prepare a report on the motion committed. 
If an appropriate committee exists, the motion goes to that committee. If not, a new committee is 
established. 

5. Question: To end a debate immediately, the question is called (say "I call the question") and needs a 
second. A vote is held immediately (no further discussion is allowed). A two-thirds vote is required for 
passage. If it is passed, the motion on the floor is voted on immediately. 

6. Table: To table a discussion is to lay aside the business at hand in such a manner that it will be 
considered later in the meeting or at another time ("I make a motion to table this discussion until the 
next meeting. In the meantime, we will get more information so we can better discuss the issue.") A 
second is needed and a majority vote required to table the item being discussed. 

7. Adjourn: A motion is made to end the meeting. A second motion is required. A majority vote is then 
required for the meeting to be adjourned (ended). 

Rules of Debate 

1.	 A board or committee member, or member of the public shall be recognized by the Chair before 
speaking in debate. 

2.	 Remarks must be confined to the merits of the pending question or topic under consideration. 
3.	 When speaking in debate, a member shall refrain from attacking motives and avoid name calling. 
4.	 All remarks shall be addressed through the Chair.  Members do not address one another directly. 
5.	 Makers of a motion are not permitted to speak against their own motion, although they may vote 

against it. 
6.	 Do not interrupt anyone who is speaking except in special situations where the urgency justifies 

the interruption. 
7.	 Obtain permission of the board or committee to read from any paper or book. 
8.	 Members of the board or committee or the public shall not disturb the meeting by whispering or 

creating other ambient sounds. 

What if a board or committee member or member of the public interrupts another board or committee 
member or a member of the public causing a meeting to be interrupted? 

The Chair shall ask the member of the public or board or committee member to hold his or her questions 
and comments until he or she is recognized by the Chair. 

What if a board or committee member walks away from the topic of discussion on the table? 

If a board or committee member is speaking on a topic that is not within the authority of the board or 
committee to discuss, another board or committee member may ask the Chair for a point of order to 
bring the meeting back to a topic within the authority of the board or committee. 



 

  
 

   
 

  
   

 
 

 
 

      
   

     
   

 
  

  
 

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
    

 

 
 

  
 

    
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

What is the procedure for handling an item of business on the agenda? 

Generally, to handle an item of business on the agenda, a motion is made prior to discussion. In small 
boards or committees, informal discussion of a topic is permitted without a motion. The board or 
committee may need to fully explore an issue or proposed action before deciding on the course of action 
to be taken. 

Motions 

Main motion – a formal proposal by a member in a meeting that the board or committee take certain 
action.  A motion may bring its subject to the attention of the board or committee or the motion may 
follow upon the presentation of a report or other communication.  A main motion is made only when no 
other motion is pending. 

Secondary motion – this is made and considered while a main motion is pending because of its 
relationship to the main motion or because of the procedural or emergency character of the specific 
secondary motion. 

Substitute Motion – is used to propose an alternative action to the main motion. Up to one main and 
two substitute motions may be on the floor at one time. If a substitute motion passes, it does away with 
the prior motions. If it fails, the previous motion comes back up for consideration. 

Friendly amendments – editorial changes that may be allowed if nobody objects. Any member may 
object and deny such requests. 

Call the question – is used to end debate and vote on the motion at hand.  If seconded and passed, the 
main motion is then voted on.  If no second or fails, discussion continues. (The Chair can choose to end 
debate.) 

Motion to table – this is non-debatable. If seconded, discussion ends and must be voted on immediately. 
A subsequent motion to take from the table is required to reopen discussion. 

Motion to reconsider – this can only be made by a member on the prevailing side of a previous vote. 
If seconded and passed, it rescinds the previous vote and brings the motion back for discussion. 

14 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 
 

 
STEPS IN HANDLING AN AGENDA ITEM IN AN ADVISORY BOARD CAPACITY  

 
Chair announces the item  of business “The next item  of business  is item number 5 on the 

agenda which is related to… Is there any discussion? 
Item introduced is open for informal discussion. Reports may be given related to the ma tter;  

members may bring up several proposals, ideas or 
recommendations.  

Developments or conclusions reached from  open The discussion and debate  may develop in two 
discussion.  possible ways:  

1. An unspoken general consensus is reached that a 
specific conclusion or action is the proper course  or 
recommendation for the board to pursue.  
2. Two or more conflicting proposals may result and  
passions are hard and fast  on all sides. 

A member or the chair makes a main  motion putting "I move that the board recommend to the county  
the conclusion (or one of the conclusions) into  a commission…" OR  
formal motion.  "I move that the board request approval for an  

additional study to determine…" 
The motion is seconded.  "I second the motion." or "Second." 
The chair states the motion. "It is moved and seconded that the board  

Recommend to the county commission…" OR  
"It is moved and seconded that the board request  
approval for an additional study to  determine…"  

The motion  made is open to debate.  "I speak in favor of the motion…" 
"I speak in opposition to the motion…" 

The motion is also open to  amendments or other "I move to amend the motion by striking out the "I 
disposition.  move to amend the motion by striking out the move  

to  defer the motion to the next meeting." 
The chair puts the question to a vote (the wording of Voice Vote: "The question is on the adoption  of the 
the motion should be repeated)  motion to… [e.g., recommend to the county 

commission…, request approval for an additional  
study to determine…] Those in favor, say aye…Those 
opposed, say no…  
 
Roll call vote:  "This vote will be taken by roll call. 
Those in favor of adopting the motion to… will 
answer yes; those opposed will answer no. The staff 
liaison or minutes secretary will call the roll." A roll 
call vote is encouraged and is considered good  
practice whenever there are any no  votes. It provides  
a clear record of those in favor and those opposed.  

Chair announces the result of the vote.  "The ayes have it and the motion is adopted." Or, 
"The nays have it and the motion is defeated. 

15 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

   
   

 
  

  
  

   
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  

Chair makes an announcement of the next item of 
business. 

The next business in order is….." Or, "The next item 
on the agenda is…" 

How are motions made? 

Board and committee members refer to Robert’s Rules of Order when making motions. 

Can the Chair make a motion? 

In parliamentary terms, the Chair does not make motions in order to remain impartial and run an orderly 
meeting. It is good practice for the Chair to hand over the gavel when he or she wishes to make a motion, 
so that the Chair would not have two jobs at that time, (1) advocating the motion, and (2) running the 
meeting. 

WHAT IS IT YOU WANT TO DO? 
The workhorse of introducing and handling business in a meeting is a motion. This summary of 
motions will not tell you everything you need to know but, for more effective meetings, you need to 
know what motion to make to accomplish what you want. 

Your Objective Motion to Use 
Bring up business; propose an idea for action MAIN MOTION: Can only be made when no 

business is pending. "I move that…" 

Kill a main motion DEFER INDEFINITELY: Avoids a direct vote on the 
main motion and "kills" it. 

Make a main motion better, perfect the wording. AMEND the main motion. You may add, delete, 
change or even substitute one motion for another. 

Put off the vote on a main motion. POSTPONE the main motion to a later time or to 
another meeting. The time must be DEFINITELY 
specified. 

Call the question, close debate / stop amendments PREVIOUS QUESTION: This requires a two-thirds 
vote and, if adopted, the vote is taken immediately 
on the pending motion. 

Take a break RECESS: A recess is a short intermission; the 
interrupted business is resumed after the recess. 

Need to know something POINT OF INFORMATION: Ask the Chair. 

Point out a violation of the rules POINT OF ORDER: Calls the attention of the Chair 
to the problem. The point of order must be made 
immediately at the time the infraction occurs. The 

16 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 

 

 
 

  
   

  
 

 
   

 
 

  
  

   
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

      

  

 
  

 
    

 
    

 
 

 
  

  
 
 
 

chair must rule at once if the point of order is well 
taken or not well taken. 

Voting 

A vote is a formal expression of the will or preference of the members of a board or committee in regard 
to a pending matter.  A majority vote is required for approval of an action or choice by a board or 
committee.  Majority means more than half of the votes cast by persons legally entitled to vote at a 
properly noticed meeting with a quorum. 

Is it necessary to record how each member voted on every motion? What about a roll-call vote? 

The vote of each member is recorded on every main motion or recommendation decided by the board 
or committee.  The Chair asks for a roll call vote on all matters specifically listed on the agenda if any 
member dissents. If there are no dissenting members a voice vote is sufficient.  If there are any dissenting 
votes, the Chair asks the staff liaison or minutes secretary to call the roll for a roll call vote. 

Can there be a secret vote? 

There can be no secret votes. Votes can be written, but the written vote is a public record. 

Voting Conflicts 

What should a board or committee member do if he or she has a conflict of interest? 

If a board or committee member has a conflict, the member should announce the nature of the conflict 
and get the required memorandum of voting conflict form which can be found on the Commission on 
Ethics site at: www.ethics.state.fl.us/forms/form8b or request an electronic copy of the form from the 
Boards Administrator.   

The board or committee member should remove himself or herself from the table and sit with the 
general public. If the member wishes to address the board or committee, he or she must do so as a 
member of the general public. The memorandum of voting conflict shall be filed within 15 days after the 
vote with the staff liaison.  The board or committee staff liaison attaches the original memorandum to 
the minutes. Certain exceptions and waivers may be available. The county attorney assigned to the 
advisory board should be present during the vote to guide staff and members through the process. 

The staff liaison should contact the county attorney assigned to the board or committee if a member is 
unsure as to whether or not there is a conflict. If the county attorney is unavailable, staff may contact 
the Intergovernmental Affairs/Boards Section at boards@broward.org or 954-357-7575. 

17 | P a  g  e  

mailto:boards@broward.org
www.ethics.state.fl.us/forms/form8b


 

  
 

 
 

  
    

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 

 
  

 
   

 
 

   
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 

Can the board or committee member abstain from voting? 

Section 286.012, Florida Statutes, states that board and committee members must vote unless there is 
a legal conflict.  If there is a legal conflict, the member must file a Form 8B – Memorandum of Voting 
Conflict for County, Municipal, and other Local Public Officers and abstain from voting. 

Appointments, Terms, and Attendance 

Rules and Regulations 

According to Chapter 112, Part III - Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees - a public officer 
“includes any person elected or appointed to hold office in any agency including any person serving.” 
This includes all board and committee members. 

Dual Office Holding 

Section 5(a) Article II, Florida Constitution states: 

An individual is precluded from holding two incompatible offices at the same time 
in order to assure the actuality of undivided loyalty. 

A list of boards subject to the dual office holding prohibition is identified in the Advisory Boards: A 
General Overview (beginning of the handbook). 

General Terms of Appointment 

Pursuant to Section 1-233, terms of appointees to Broward County agencies, authorities, boards, 
committees, commissions, councils, and task forces; quorum, all advisory boards shall be subject to the 
following requirements except where inconsistent with the Broward County Charter general or special 
law, or the enacting ordinance or resolution of such advisory or other boards: 

1.	 A fixed-term appointment shall expire on the last day of the fixed term unless the appointee is 
removed for cause under applicable law. 

2.	 If the appointment is not for a fixed term, the appointee shall serve until: 
a.	 He or she is removed by the appointing/nominating Commissioner or other 

appointing/nominating authority; or 
b.	 The sooner of (1) or (2) below: 

1.	 A successor is appointed, or the incumbent appointee is reappointed, by a newly-
elected or newly-appointed Commissioner; or 

2.	 Six (6) months after the official date on which a newly-elected or newly-appointed 
Commissioner enters office. 

18 | P a  g  e  



 

  19 | P a  g  e  
 

  

   
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

   
 

    
 

 
  

If a newly-elected or newly-appointed Commissioner fails to appoint a successor, or reappoint the 
incumbent appointee, within six (6) months of entering office, the County Administrator or his or her 
designee (Boards Administrator) shall notify the appointee of the expiration of his or her term, and the 
board seat shall remain vacant until filled. 

Attendance Requirements 

Board and committee members are expected to attend all scheduled meetings. 

Removal from an advisory board 

The staff liaison shall notify the Boards Administrator when a member resigns from a board. 

Removal from boards based upon attendance: 

When an advisory board, committee, or other board whose enacting ordinance or resolution adopts the 
attendance requirements of this subsection meets on a quarterly or less frequent basis, an appointee 
shall be automatically removed as a member if he or she has two (2) consecutive unexcused absences 
or has two (2) unexcused absences of properly-noticed meetings in one (1) calendar year. 

If any such board meets more frequently than quarterly, an appointee shall be automatically removed 
as a member if he or she has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences or has four (4) unexcused 
absences of properly-noticed meetings in one (1) calendar year. 

Other removal reasons: 

x Term ends 
x Commissioner term ends 
x Resignation 
x Death  
x Disqualification 

Effective date of Removal 

The automatic removal of an appointee is deemed effective when written notice of the reason for the
 
removal has been sent by the County Administrator or his or her designee to the appointee.
 

Excused Absences 

The following are guidelines the Chair must use to determine an excused absence:
 

a.	 When the member is performing an authorized alternative activity relating to outside board business 
that directly conflicts with the properly-noticed meeting; 



 

  
 

  
  

 

  

 
 

 
    

 
  

   
  

 
  

 
  

 
   

 
 

 
    

     
   

   
 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 

b.	 The death of an immediate family member, defined as a spouse, father, mother, stepparent, one 
who has stood in the place of a parent (in loco parentis), child, or stepchild domiciled in the member's 
household;  

c.	 The death of a member's domestic partner; 
d.	 The member's hospitalization; 
e.	 When the member is summoned to jury duty; or 
f.	 When the member is issued a subpoena by a court of competent jurisdiction. 

Public Participation in a Meeting 

Open to the Public 

Does the public have a right to participate in a Sunshine meeting? 

Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires a board or committee to provide the public with an 
opportunity to be heard on a proposition before the board. The Chair will announce the manner of public 
participation at the beginning of the meeting and prior to a vote on any official action , and provide 
members of the public an opportunity to be heard. The Chair is responsible for enforcing reasonable 
time limits that govern how long members may speak within the requirements of the law. 

Guidelines for Public Participation in a Meeting 

When recognized by the Advisory Board Chair each speaker shall state his or her name, who he or she 
represents, and if asked, whether he or she is being compensated by the person(s) or organization(s) for 
which he or she speaks.  A participant shall be required to complete a speaker form prior to addressing 
the advisory board.   

Members of the public may be allocated up to 3 minutes to speak on an agenda item .  However, the 
Chair may reduce the amount of time if such reduction is required due to the total number of persons 
desiring to speak regarding the agenda item, the remaining meeting time, and other agenda items 
remaining to be considered by the advisory board. 

The opportunity for public participation is not available in emergency situations (affecting the public 
health, welfare, or safety), official acts involving no more than ministerial acts (e.g. approval of minutes), 
meetings exempt from Section 286.011, Florida Statutes, and meetings where the board is acting in a 
quasi-judicial capacity. Any action taken by a board or commission that is found to be in violation of 
Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, is not void as a result of such violation. 

20 | P a  g  e  



 

  
 

 
  

     
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

   
 

 
 

 

 
    

   

 
 
 

  
 

   
 

 
   

   
 

 

Ethics 

The Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees is found in Chapter 112, Part III, Florida Statutes. 
The goal of the Code is to promote the public interest and maintain the respect of the people for their 
government.  The Code is also intended to ensure public officials conduct themselves independently and 
impartially, not using their offices for private gain other than compensation provided by law. While 
seeking to protect the integrity of government, the Code also seeks to avoid the creation of unnecessary 
barriers to public service. 

Gifts and Lobbying Prohibitions 

Gifts 

Section 26-70.31, Broward Code of Ordinances prohibits advisory board members from accepting a gift 
directly or indirectly, regardless of value, from any lobbyist registered with Broward County, or from any 
principal or employer of any registered lobbyist, or from a vendor or contractor of Broward County 
(“prohibited donors”). 

Public officers, employees, local government attorneys, and candidates are prohibited from soliciting or 
accepting anything of value, such as a gift, loan, reward, promise of future employment, favor, or service, 
that is based on an understanding that their vote, official action, or judgment would be influenced by 
such gift. (Sec. 112.313(2), Fla. Stat.) 

Lobbying 

Chapter 26, Broward County Code, Article V: Conflicts Of Interest, including the lobbying prohibitions in 
Section 26-70, Broward County Code specify the following: 

Any person appointed to a board is prohibited during his or her term of appointment and for a period of 
two (2) years after the appointment, from lobbying the division, office, or department that oversees the 
board on which the individual served. 

Any board member who lobbies or engages in lobbying activities with a county division, office, or 
department overseeing or affiliated with the board upon which the member currently serves, shall be 
disqualified as a member of the board and his or her appointment shall immediately cease. 

A public officer cannot vote on any matter that would inure his or her special private gain or loss, or the 
gain or loss of any relative, principle or business associate.  

A current or former public officer may not disclose or use information not available to members of the 
general public and gained by reason of his or her official position, for his or her personal gain or loss, or 
the gain or loss of any other person or business entity. 

21 | P a  g  e  

http:26-70.31


 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No board member shall accept a gift, directly or indirectly, regardless of value, from a ny lobbyist  
registered with Broward County or from any pro hibited donors.   
 
No advisory board member shall accept a gift with a value in excess of $50 per occurrence from sources 
other than prohibited  donors, when such gift is given to  the member in  his or her official capacit y.  
 
Financial Disclosures  
 
Who files a financial disclosure? 
 
Certain advisory board members must file a Form 1  – Statement of  Financial Interests because  they are  
considered a local officer.  The county Supervisor of Elections Office mails a limited financial  disclosure 
form to the permanent resident of each of the board members (listed on pages 3 and 4) no later than  
June 1st of each year.  Members receive  the form  to file  upon appointment, if  the member is required  to  
file a financial disclosure.  
 
 

22 | P a  g  e  



 

 

 

  
 

  
 

 

 
  

  
   

 
    

  
 

  
 

    
 

   
    

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
   

 

Additional FAQ 

What if two members of a county board or committee are also members of the same homeowner 
association or area group and an item that may come before the county board or committee is coming 
up before the homeowner association or area group?  Can the board members participate and discuss 
the item at the homeowner association or area group meeting? 

The two members should not participate and discuss with each other what may be business to come 
before their county board or committee no matter where this may take place. Each member may voice 
their position at the non-county group but should not respond to each other's positions either directly 
or indirectly. If there is concern that the non-county group will involve possible sunshine discussion, it is 
best to give notice of the meeting, announcing what board or committee members will be there, and 
take minutes of the meeting and post the minutes on the website. 

Are members allowed to use proxies or alternates?  If a member sends a representative in their place, 
can the representative vote?  Is the representative counted towards quorum? 

Unless authorized in the advisory board’s enabling legislation, advisory board members cannot use a 
proxy or alternate.  If a member chooses to send a representative in their place, the individual will not 
be able to vote or count towards quorum. 

Note:  if an advisory board allows for alternates, the alternates are not counted towards quorum, and 
therefore, cannot be removed from the advisory board if he or she misses a meeting. The attendance 
policy is applied to the primary member. 

Can advisory board members communicate on any subject, not related to the advisory board? 

Yes. Advisory board members may speak to each other about anything NOT related to the adv isory or 
anything that will come up for a vote by the advisory board.  Members may speak at city commission 
meetings or homeowner association meetings in the capacity of a private resident or citizen and not as 
a board member. 

Advisory board members are prohibited from speaking to each other about advisory board business in 
the following instances: 

x Before a publicly noticed meeting 
x After a publicly noticed meeting 
x Any other forum 

Is the board or committee in charge of the Staff Liaison? 

The board or committee does not control the staff liaison.  The staff liaison is present to help meet the 
required objectives of the advisory board or committee. 

23 |  P a  g  e   



 

  
 

   
  

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The County Attorney will assign an assistant County attorney to attend a board or committee meeting, 
as he/she deems appropriate.  This assigned attorney is considered the board attorney and may also 
attend meetings where legal questions may arise during a meeting.  

Note this handbook is subject to change. 

If you have any questions, do not hesitate to contact our office at boards@broward.org or 954-357-
7575. 

Amended: 3/19/2018 

24 | P a  g  e  

mailto:boards@broward.org


 

Broward County 
Advisory Board 

Member Workshop 

Presented by: 

Intergovernmental Affairs/Boards Section 



69 



ICS…

or 

“SERVING” ON A BOARD BAS 

Everything you need to know can be 
found in Section 1-233, Broward County 

Code. 

This document is provided to you via 
email or USPS when newly appointed 

reappointed. 



STAFF LIAISON 

“THEY ARE ESSENTIAL…” 



  

 

 
 

 

 
 

s and reserve 
modate for 

reason;

ficiently and

rs and 
embers; and

to board 

STAFF LIAISON DUTIES 

• Maintain records (attendance, notes, 
minutes, agendas, receipt of 
Acknowledgement of Documents, etc.). 

• Submit attendance sheet to Boards 
Administrator within 2 weeks after meeting. 

• Keep member information updated and 
notify Boards Administrator of any change 
member’s status (residency change, contact 
info change). 

• Publicly notice meeting 
meeting room.  Accom 
teleconference use within 

• Ensure meetings are ef 
effectively run; 

• Contact incoming membe 
departing (removed) m 

• Distribute Information 
members. 



MEETINGS 



 

AW

the 

–

MEETINGS – SUNSHINE L 

A Violation of  the Sunshine Law may Result in 
following: 

• Unintentional – FINE of up to $500 

• Intentional – JAIL or FINE of up to $500 



-

   

 
 

     
 

d ends;

of any 

members as of
a 

MEETINGS MINUTES 

• A written record of the location and time the meeting starts an 

• Names of board or committee members in attendance; 

• Official actions taken by the board or committee; 

• A brief summary of meeting activities, including an attachment 
presentation slides used; and 

• Any announcement by staff liaison of the number of appointed 
the date of the meeting and the number of members that would constitute 
quorum. 



-MEETINGS QUORUM 

• How is quorum determined? 

• What are the scenarios to think about? 
• Hint: There are three 



 

 

MEETINGS – RULES!!! 

• Conducting a Meeting 

• Communicating to County Commission 

• Conducting Business 

• Duties of the Chair 

• Member Duties (in brief) 

• Decorum & Debate 

• Voting 

• Conflicts 



MEMBERS 

Without the members…the advisory board won’t 
function…. 



’MEMBER S DUTIES 

• Decorum and Debate 

• Notify board coordinator (staff liaison) 2 business days prior 
to the scheduled meeting date as to whether or not you: 

• Will attend 

• Will not attend 



T’ROBER S RULES OF ORDER 

• Debate cannot begin until the Chair has stated the 
motion or resolution. 

• No member can speak twice to the same issues until 
everyone else wishing to speak has spoken to it once. 

• All remarks must be directed to the Chair. 



APPOINTMENTS, 
TERMS, ATTENDANCE 



Agencies 

APPOINTMENTS – TERMS 

Look in Municode, Broward County Code (Ordinances) 

• Chapter 1, Article XII – Boards Authorities and 
Generally. 

• Section 1-233, Terms of appointees to Broward County 
agencies, authorities, boards, committees, councils, and 
task forces; quorum. 

• Commissioners have six months to reappoint or appoint a 
new member. 



e:

or 

ATTENDANCE 

Section 1-233, Code of  Ordinances 

Quarterly or less: 

Two (2) consecutive 
unexcused absences or 
misses two (2) properly-
noticed meetings in one 
(1) calendar year 

Monthly or mor 

Three (3) consecutive 
unexcused absences 
misses four (4) properly-
noticed meetings in one 
(1) calendar year 



 

 
   

  
 

 

 

  

relating to 
ced meeting;

er, mother, 
s), child, or 

urisdiction.

ATTENDANCE – ABSENCES 

Section 1-233, Code of Ordinances 

Excused Absences (1-233(e)(3)(a-f) 

a. When the member is performing an authorized alternative activity 
outside board business that directly conflicts with the properly-noti 

b. The death of an immediate family member, defined as a spouse, fath 
stepparent, one who has stood in the place of a parent (in loco parenti 
stepchild domiciled in the member's household; 

c. The death of a member's domestic partner; 

d. The member's hospitalization; 

e. When the member is summoned to jury duty; or 

f. When the member is issued a subpoena by a court of competent j 



ATTENDANCE – REMOVALS 

Look in Municode, Broward County Code (Ordinances) 

• Absence 
• Member term end date 
• Commissioner term end date 
• Resignation 
• Lacks categorical requirement 
• Loses residency/voter status 
• Death 



PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

SECTION 286.0114, Florida Statutes 

Speaker Form 

Reasonable time to speak (3 minutes) 



ETHICS 

• Form 1 – Statement of Financial Disclosure 
• Form 2 – Quarterly Client Disclosure (Section 26-76 of 

Chapter 26, Article V) 
• Form 8B – Voting Conflict 
• Section 26-70.1, Chapter 26, Article V – Acceptance of 

Gifts by Members of County 
• Section 26-70, Code of  Ordinances – Prohibition on 

Lobbying by Advisory Board Members 



and 

SUNSET REVIEW 

Section 2.09(f), Broward County Charter – 
Reviews the performance of all boards, committees, authorities, 

agencies at least every 4 years. 

Next Sunset Review cycles: 2020, 2024, 2028, 2032 



AAANDD WEE AREE DONE!! 
Thank you! 


	Agenda
	Broward County Advisory Board Member Handbook
	Broward County Advisory Board Member Workshop




Accessibility Report





		Filename: 

		AGENDApacket.MMAB.04252018.pdf









		Report created by: 

		



		Organization: 

		







[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]



Summary



The checker found no problems in this document.





		Needs manual check: 0



		Passed manually: 2



		Failed manually: 0



		Skipped: 17



		Passed: 13



		Failed: 0







Detailed Report





		Document





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set



		Image-only PDF		Skipped		Document is not image-only PDF



		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF



		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order



		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified



		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar



		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents



		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast



		Page Content





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged content		Skipped		All page content is tagged



		Tagged annotations		Skipped		All annotations are tagged



		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order



		Character encoding		Skipped		Reliable character encoding is provided



		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged



		Screen flicker		Skipped		Page will not cause screen flicker



		Scripts		Skipped		No inaccessible scripts



		Timed responses		Skipped		Page does not require timed responses



		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive



		Forms





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged form fields		Skipped		All form fields are tagged



		Field descriptions		Skipped		All form fields have description



		Alternate Text





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Figures alternate text		Skipped		Figures require alternate text



		Nested alternate text		Skipped		Alternate text that will never be read



		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content



		Hides annotation		Skipped		Alternate text should not hide annotation



		Other elements alternate text		Skipped		Other elements that require alternate text



		Tables





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot



		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR



		Headers		Skipped		Tables should have headers



		Regularity		Skipped		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column



		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary



		Lists





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L



		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI



		Headings





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Appropriate nesting		Skipped		Appropriate nesting










Back to Top



